
 

 

 
 
 

 
December 13, 2024 
  
The Honorable Miguel Cardona  
Secretary 
U.S. Department of Education  
400 Maryland Ave. SW  
Washington, DC 20202 
 
  
 
Dear Secretary Cardona,  
  
On behalf of the undersigned higher education associations, I write to share the results of a 
survey of colleges and universities that clearly identifies the challenges they face in meeting 
the Jan. 15, 2025, deadline for reporting requirements in financial value transparency (FVT) 
and gainful employment (GE). Given the responses received, and the implications of a change 
in administration, we ask that the deadline be extended from Jan. 15 to July 2025.  
 
To better understand the concerns of our member institutions, the American Council on 
Education (ACE) conducted a survey of college and university presidents that was distributed 
by ACE and other higher education organizations. The survey yielded a total of 355 
respondents, with a representative sample coming from public and private, nonprofit 
institutions and having a broad impact on a diverse array of institutional types.  
 
The survey found that colleges and universities were unclear as to their requirements under 
the FVT and GE regulations. To be exact, 54 percent of respondents found the sub-regulatory 
guidance to be just somewhat clear, or remained neutral in their thoughts around this, while 
40 percent of respondents felt that the guidance was not clear at all. In addition, 82 percent of 
respondents believed that their completers lists would not truly be finalized within a five-day 
period largely due to the fact that the Department allows for institutions to make corrections 
to their draft completers lists until Jan. 15,1 and a new administration begins just five days 
later.  
 
Among other findings: 
 

• 79 percent 

https://fsapartners.ed.gov/knowledge-center/library/electronic-announcements/2024-09-13/updated-timeline-financial-value-transparency-and-gainful-employment-reporting-and-completers-lists
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reporting deadline to July 2025.  
 
The attached document summarizes the survey responses and provides more information on 
how participants responded. We thank you for your attention to this letter. It is our hope that 
you will take institutional concerns seriously and delay the reporting requirements until July 
2025.  
 
 
Sincerely, 
 

  
  
Ted Mitchell 
President 
 
On behalf of:  
 
ACPA-College Student Educators International 
American Association of Colleges of Nursing 
American Association of Colleges of Osteopathic Medicine 
American Association of Collegiate Registrars and Admissions Officers 
American Association of Community Colleges 
American Association of State Colleges and Universities 
American Association of Veterinary Medical Colleges 
American Council on Education 
Association for Institutional Research 
Association of American Medical Colleges 
Association of American Universities 
Association of Catholic Colleges and Universities 
Association of Community College Trustees 
Association of Governing Boards of Universities and Colleges 
Association of Independent California Colleges and Universities  
Association of Independent Colleges and 
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Council of Graduate Schools 
EDUCAUSE 
Great Lakes Colleges Association 
Hispanic Association of Colleges and Universities 
Higher Education Loan Coalition 
Higher Learning Commission 
Independent Colleges and Universities of Texas 
Independent Colleges of Indiana 
Independent Colleges of Washington 
Maryland Independent College and University Association 
Michigan Independent Colleges and Universities  
NASPA-Student Affairs Administrators in Higher Education 
National Association of College and University Business Officers 
National Association of Colleges and Employers  
National Association of Independent Colleges and Universities 
National Association of Student Financial Aid Administrators 
New England Commission of Higher Education 
North Carolina Independent Colleges and Universities  
State Higher Education Executive Officers Association 
UPCEA, The Online and Professional Education Association 
WASC Senior College and University Commission  
Wisconsin Association of Independent Colleges and Universities 
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Institution	Demographics	

• Survey	was	administered	between	November	22
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• A	combined	54%	of	respondents	fall	into	the	"neutral"	(27%)	or	"somewhat	clear"	(27%)	categories,	
suggesting	a	signiOicant	portion	of	institutions	feel	they	only	have	partial	understanding	of	the	
requirements.	
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Q3-When	additional	reporting	requirements	on	institutions	are	added	through	the	Federal	Register,	what	
do	you	believe	is	a	reasonable	amount	of	time	for	institutions	to	come	into	compliance?	

	

Strong	Preference	for	Extended	Timelines:	

• Most	respondents	(87%)	believe	that	institutions	need	more	than	60	days	to	comply	with	additional	
reporting	requirements	introduced	through	the	Federal	Register.	

• This	response	indicates	a	consensus	that	the	current	timeline	expectations	are	unrealistic	and	
unmanageable	for	most	instituti
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Q5-How	likely	is	it	that	the	Department	will	delay	the	overall	reporting	deadline	again	given	the	
signiOicant	timing	complexities?	

	

Expectation	of	a	Delay:	

• 26%	believe	a	delay	is	very	likely,	and	20%	consider	it	somewhat	likely,	suggesting	nearly	half	
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Q6-	Does	your	institution	need	additional	Oinancial	or	other	resources	to	increase	administrative	
capability	in	order	to	fully	comply	with	the	FVT	and	GE	regulation	reporting	requirements?	

	

SigniOicant	Resource	Gaps:	

• Combined,	73%	of	respondents	identify	some	level	of	resource	insufOiciency,	underscoring	the	
widespread	nature	of	this	issue.	

• 17%	of	respondents	remain	uncertain	of	whether	additional	resources	are	needed.		
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Q7-	Will	your	institution	be	able	to	meet	the	January	15,	2025,	reporting	deadline	for	Financial	Value	
Transparency	and	Gainful	Employment	reporting?	

	

High	Level	of	Uncertainty:	

• 70%	of	respondents	are	unsure	if	they	will	be	able	to	meet	the	deadline.	

• This	indicates	widespread	doubt	or	a	lack	of	clarity	regarding	their	preparedness,	driven	by	factors	
like	unclear	guidance,	resource	constraints,	or	unresolved	systemic	challenges.	

Q8-	What	speciOic	challenges	would	prevent	your	institution	from	meeting	the	January	15,	2025,	
deadline?	(Open	ended	response;	analysis	based	on	common	themes	throughout)		

1.	StafOing	and	Resource	Limitations	

• Staff	shortages:	Many	respondents	from	these	institutions,	particularly	smaller	ones,	lack	sufOicient	
personnel	to	manage	the	workload.	

• Budgetary	constraints:	Limited	funding	prevents	hiring	additional	staff	or	securing	necessary	tools.	
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• Overworked	staff:	Existing	staff	are	stretched	thin	due	to	competing	responsibilities	during	a	busy	
time	of	year.	

2.	Timing	Constraints	and	Competing	Priorities	

• Holiday	closures:	Reduced	stafOing	during	winter	breaks	hampers	progress.	

• Concurrent	deadlines:	Overlapping	responsibilities	like	FAFSA	updates,	IPEDS	reporting,	and	
semester	preparations	add	strain.	

•
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Overwhelming	Support	for	a	Deadline	Extension:	

• 87%	of	respondents	agree	that	delaying	the	reporting	deadline	until	July	2025	would	provide	
sufOicient	time	to	comply.	

Q10-	How	much	time	do	you	believe	is	needed	to	allow	you	to	successfully	comply	with	the	FVT/GE	
reporting	requirements?

-
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• Request	for	training	and	support:	Suggestions	include	dedicated	hotlines,	simpliOied	instructions,	
and	training	resources	like	step-by-step	videos	to	reduce	confusion.	

4.	Ongoing	Challenges	with	Existing	Processes	

• Overlap	with	other	regulatory	changes:	Respondents	from	these	institutions	are	still	grappling	with	
FAFSA	simpliOication	and	other	concurrent	initiatives,	leading	to	resource	constraints	and	a	feeling	of	
being	overwhelmed.	

• Persistent	errors:	Issues	with	data	accuracy	and	incomplete	guidance	on	resolving	errors	contribute	
to	uncertainty	about	how	much	time	is	adequate.	

5.	Skepticism	and	Uncertainty	

• Doubt	about	feasibility:	Some	respondents	express	a	lack	of	conOidence	in	their	ability	to	meet	the	
requirements	even	with	more	time,	citing	unresolved	systemic	and	resource	issues.	

• Uncertainty	due	to	changing	regulations:	
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4. Skepticism	About	Effectiveness	and	Fairness	

o Doubts	about	the	utility	and	fairness	of	the	reporting	requirements,	with	concerns	that	they	
disproportionately	burden	smaller	or	already	compliant	institutions.	

o Skepticism	about	whether	the	data	collected	will	yield	meaningful	outcomes	or	
improvements	for	students.	

o Respondents	note	redundancy	with	existing	reporting	platforms	(e.g.,	IPEDS,	College	
Scorecard)	and	question	the	long-term	value	of	the	effort.	

5. Impact	of	Poor	Timing	and	Broader	Uncertainty	

o The	overlap	with	major	regulatory	changes	(like	FAFSA)	and	holiday	schedules	creates	
logistical	challenges.	

o Delays	in	releasing	critical	guidance	and	tools	have	left	institutions	feeling	unprepared	to	
meet	the	deadline.	

o Broader	concerns	about	the	potential	reversal	of	these	regulations	under	future	


